Filed 07-17-2020

Page 1 of 41

RECEIVED 07-17-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2020AP000785 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KEYON D. GRANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE PRESIDING.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

ZALESKI LAW FIRM Steven W. Zaleski State Bar No. 1034597 10 E. Doty St., Ste. 800 Madison, WI 53703 608-441-5199 (Telephone) Zaleski@Ticon.net Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Issue presented

Is Grant entitled to a new trial under *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. _____, 138 S.Ct.1500 (2017) and the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution because he was denied his right to choose the objective of his defense, and the assistance of counsel in pursuing such objective?

The circuit court answered no.

Position on oral argument and publication

Counsel does not request oral argument. Counsel believes that publication will not be warranted as this appeal requires the application of well-established law, *McCoy v. Louisiana*, supra, to a specific set of facts.

Statement of the case

The State charged Grant with attempted first-degree intentional homicide. 6:1. According to the criminal complaint, Grant used a shotgun to shoot D.P. in the head after Grant, D.P. and two other individuals drove in Grant's car to McGovern Park in the City of Milwaukee. 1:1.

At trial, the State amended the information to include a charge of possession of a short-barreled shotgun or rifle. 26:1.¹ Before submitting the case to the jury, the court additionally instructed the jury as to first-degree recklessly endangering safety and second-degree recklessly endangering safety. 129:45:48.

At trial, the jury found Grant guilty of first-degree recklessly endangering safety, and possession of a short-barreled shotgun. 130:3.

¹ The State had apparently electronically filed the amended information in November 2017 but it did not show up on the docket as being filed then. 127:4-10. Trial counsel agreed that he had received the amended information in November of 2017. 127:5-6.

At sentencing, the circuit court imposed 84 months initial confinement and 60 months extended supervision on the firstdegree recklessly endangering safety charge, and 30 months initial confinement and 30 months extended supervision on the possession of a short-barreled shotgun charge. 133:19. The circuit court ordered that the sentences run consecutively. 133:20.

Grant timely filed a notice of intent to pursue posconviction relief, 91:1, pursuant to which the State Public Defender appointed the undersigned counsel to represent Grant on postconviction matters. By and through counsel, Grant filed a motion for new trial which raised the same issue before this court 98:1-7. After conducting an evidentiary hearing, 134:1-50, the circuit court entered a written decision denying Grant's motion for new trial. 109:1-4. Grant filed a notice of appeal, 110:1, and these proceedings follow. Statement of facts

Facts pertaining to trial counsel's statements at trial.

During closing argument, trial counsel argued to the jury that Grant did not have the intent to kill D.P., and that the shooting of D.P. was an accident. 129:88,90,91,92,93, and 95.

After trial counsel's closing argument, and before the jury returned any verdict, Grant complained to the circuit court about the statements made by trial counsel to the jury:

Your Honor, I—I told my—my—my attorney that I was not there. I was not there. I didn't shoot that man. And he made it seem like I accidentally shot that man. I didn't—I didn't even have possession of this gun at all. And he just went against what I said to him and made his own defense. I never—I never did—I never was in that park. If I was in that park, I could've took a plea. I could've told them that I— aggravated battery. I never agreed to this.

_ _ _

I never agreed to this your Honor. I think this not a fair trial. I think he didn't—he didn't put—put something else in the jury's head like I accidentally shot this man. I never shot this man. Never. It was all a lie just to get out of trouble.

They both incarcerated, they—one is incarcerated and the other is trying to get out of some type of altercation about the gun. I never possessed that gun. I never even seen that gun, and I told my attorney that.

And how he just go telling them that I—I—I—possessed that gun? It's quite obvious that I never possessed that gun, and no—no video, no nothing. And how we just going to say that I possessed that gun? I never did. Because he trying to get out of trouble because he got caught with a gun.² And I never did shoot that man. That man, you could tell that man was obviously lying. I'm not agreeing with my attorney.

129:117-118.

Facts pertaining to Grant's motion for new trial.

In support of Grant's motion for new trial, Grant submitted his own affidavit. 99:9. Grant asserted that in response to the charges brought against him by the State, it was his objective to assert his innocence, and to pursue a defense based upon the premise that he was not present when the shooting of D.P. took place. 99:9.

Grant asserted that he had informed trial counsel that he was not present when the shooting of D.P. occurred, that he was not in the park, did not have the gun, and did not shoot D.P. 99:9.

 $^{^{2}}$ Grant here refers to T.M. who testified for the State at trial. 126:43. The gun allegedly used in the shooting was recovered from T.M.'s residence. 126:57-58.

Grant asserted that he understood that certain witnesses

placed him at the scene of the shooting, and that in connection with these witnesses, he wanted his defense to involve a challenge to the credibility and truthfulness of these witnesses. 99:9.

Grant asserted that going into trial, he expected that his defense would be consistent with the information provided to trial counsel and his wishes. 99:9.

Facts pertaining to trial counsel's testimony at hearing.

Trial counsel's testimony appears in the record at 134:9-46. Trial counsel testified that Grant initially told him that the witnesses would not show up for trial. 134:14-15. Trial counsel testified that Grant told him that "one guy's his brother who would not testify against him; the other guy was a dope addict, you guys will never find him; and the woman who was in the car was also a dope addict, and you wouldn't find her, and that he was going to be out by May and there was nothing to worry about." 134:13. At the time of the initial conversation, Grant was in custody and had made a speedy trial demand. 134:13-14. Grant was later released from custody when the State became unable to comply with the speedy trial demand. 134:14.

Trial counsel testified that after Grant was released, he learned that the individual who Grant referred to as his "brother" was actually not Grant's brother, and that the individual actually had "some very negative things to say about Grant." 134:14.

Trial counsel testified that Grant was ultimately arrested and taken back into custody as a result of "some bail issues." 134:15. At that point, they began to have "some serious conversations about the case." 134:15.

Initially, Grant "made different denials." 134:15. Trial counsel showed Grant a video which allegedly showed his car both driving to and leaving the park. 134:15. Grant initially said, "it's not my car," and "I don't have a car like that." 134:15. After pointing out to Grant that there was evidence regarding him

7

fleeing and being arrested in the car in Indiana, Grant then admitted that the car was his. 134:16.

Trial counsel testified that in reviewing the discovery, Grant's "take on the discovery was, no one saw me pull the trigger, so how can they testify they saw me shoot." 134:17. In discussing with Grant that somebody said that Grant had a shotgun on his lap, Grant "talked about how, based on the seating arrangements in his car, and how the car is put together, the person could not possibly have seen what was on his lap." 134:17. Grant stated that D.P. did not see who shot him as he was pointed in the other direction. 134:17. Grant stated that it could have been T.M. who shot him. 134:17.

Trial counsel indicated at this point, the strategy was not, "I wasn't there," but "they can't prove that I was the one that shot." 134:18. Going into trial, the strategy was two-fold. 134:19. The first part was that the witnesses would not show up, and the second part was that the State was not going to be able to prove its case. 134:19-20

8

Trial counsel indicated that he explained to Grant that as an experienced criminal defense attorney, he expected that the individuals in the vehicle were going to testify that Grant was in fact in the vehicle. 134:23.

Trial counsel explained to Grant "over and over again," what his strategy was in the case given the evidence that he saw. 134:23. "I said, look, I don't think that you tried to kill this guy, because, I mean, with a shotgun to the head, if you wanted to kill him, he'd be dead. I said, I think though, that there's some lesser crime that we can talk about that. I said, that's the only solution I see to the case." 134:23. Trial counsel specifically testified as follows:

And so we had numerous discussions about that, but he didn't necessarily participate that much in the discussions. Because he, at that point, said I want to hear what they're going to say. So for, I'd say, about a week before trial, I was pretty much developing my own strategy, because he really wasn't giving me a lot of input, and I don't think he was doing much listening." 134:23-24.

Trial counsel testified that his strategy, as he was communicating with Grant the week before trial, was "[t]rying to get this thing down to something less than attempted homicide." 134:24.

Regarding such strategy, counsel for the State asked trial counsel, "[a]nd he wasn't saying that - - he was not – he did not have issue with that strategy, he had issue with the fact that the State would not be able to prove its case; is that my understanding?" 134:24. Trial responded,

That's correct. He never said - -he never said, no, no, no, no, I don't want to go that way. He just basically was - - he was kind of all over the place, to be honest with you. He was a little bit scattered. But yeah, I told him, I said, this is the only way we're going to get you out here without looking at - -I think he was looking at about 60 years, I believe. It would have carried a long sentence. And I said, let's try to get this down for something less. And that's basically - - that's where I told him we're going to go. That's what I did at trial. My approach at trial was pretty much to try to get - - go towards a lesser included, not an ID-type of situation, or anything like that." 134:24-25.

Trial counsel indicated that as he conducted opening statements and questioned the witnesses, Grant was participating in the defense along those strategic lines. 134:25. Trial counsel testified that throughout the trial, Grant provided him with information, "bits and pieces here and there, based on my theory of defense." 134:26.

Trial counsel testified that during the trial he and Grant "were having good communications," and that "there was not a breakdown of communications at all during the course of the trial." 134:26.

The following question and answer took place between counsel for the State and trial counsel as to trial counsel's and Grant's understanding of the trial strategy:

Q: At any point did Mr. Grant indicate to you that he kind of changed his mind on what he believed his defense should be?

A. Well, I think - -and I'm not clear here. I know it was either near the end of the State's case, or after the State rested. I was talking to him about the need for him to take the stand and testify, and we kind of had some general conversation about it before, where I said, you know, if you guys were just fooling around with this gun and the gun went off and shot somebody, you might need to take the stand; you might need to testify, okay, so the jury understands how this happened.

We never had any serious conversations about it until, I think you rested, and then I, you know, said, I think you're going to need to take the stand and testify about how this happened. And he says, I can't take the stand; I wasn't there. And when he said, "I wasn't there," he had sort of a smirk on his face. And I wasn't sure if he was being serious initially. I says, come on. And he says, I wasn't there. And he's again, got this smile that's sort of laughing. And after a few more

times, he kept saying the same thing. So I said, okay, fine. And that was that, and I didn't do anything else.

Q: And was your understanding at that point more that that was a -- so all the way along, as I understand it, you were communicating what your strategy was, which is, I am going to try to get you a lesser crime?

A: Yes.

Q: Is that accurate?

A: Yes.

Q: You communicated with that - that to him, and he at that point, during your communications, didn't really have an issue with it, other than to believe that the State would not be able to prove its case; is that fair to say?

A: Yes.

Q: So the first time that you heard him say, I was not there, was at this point that you just described, a bit prior to the colloquy on whether he was going to testify?

A: That's correct.

Q: And when you had that conversation with him, you indicated that he had a smirk on his face, and you said you did not know if he was being serious or not; is that accurate?

A: That's accurate.

Q: So you did not see that as a change in strategy for you; you saw that maybe as another - -what did you see that as?

A; I'll be honest with you. Initially - - initially, the thought went through my mind that maybe he was having some type of mental breakdown. Initially, I said - - because this is kind of ridiculous that, at this point now, he said he wasn't there. We've had conversations where he clearly, even though he never went through detail, clearly admitted being there and knowing what was going on.

Now he wants me to completely change my strategy. I didn't know if he was having a mental breakdown, but then I saw the look on his face, and sort of this little smirk or smile on his face, and I said is he just being silly, or what? And at this time, I thought he was just clowning around.

Q: So is it fair to say that you still interpreted that his wishes for you to continue on with this strategy that you discussed with him?

A: Yes. At no point prior to that did he ever say, I wasn't there. Or you know - - because my whole strategy for trial would have been much, much different on a, you know, you've got the wrong guy, or the bad ID type of case. This was clearly not that type of case. I don't think I've done anything which would indicate that it was a, he wasn't there, as opposed to kind of, like, you know, the State hasn't really proved that this was an intentional attempt to take someone's life. And that was the thrust of my defense.

Q: So when, at closings, you discussed the recklessly endangering safety, as Mr. Grant was not intending to kill anybody, this is not an attempted homicide - -and I'm kind of paraphrasing what the criminal instructions are - -this is a lesser crime. You were following along with the intent and the strategy that you and Mr. Grant had agreed on as you prepared, and through trial; is that accurate?

A: That's correct. 134:26-29.

The following question and answer likewise took place:

Q: And he seemed to understand your opinion, given your months of relationship with him, your meetings with him, he seemed to understand that that was going to be your trial strategy?

A: Yes.

Q: And at no time during the trial, but for the occasion that you discussed regarding him saying, I'm not here, did he ever ask you to deviate from that strategy?

A: No.

Q: And he was in court the whole time as you were asking your questions and making your arguments, that would be consistent with the trial strategy that you indicated that you would follow?

A: Yes. 134:34-35.

- -

Q: And that strategy, based on your interpretation of the evidence and how the evidence would have come in, was basically a strategy that, I am going to try to get you the lesser included; is it fair to say?

A: Correct.

Q: And you discussed that with Mr. Grant?

A: Yes.

Q: And it's your opinion, after - - given your relationship and the number of times that you met with him, that he understood that strategy?

A: Yes.

Q: And that he assented to that strategy?

A: Yes.

Q: Other than the fact that he had indicated, I think what you said is that he still had ideas that the State would not be able to prove its case?

A: Yeah. They were somewhat fantastical, yes.

Q: Is it fair to say that the first time that you felt that Mr. Grant was objecting to that strategy was after the case had been closed, prior to the jury reaching a verdict; is that accurate?

A: That's accurate. 134:44-45.

On cross-examination, trial counsel testified that he did not

write Grant any letters where he explored trial strategy. 134:35.

There is nothing in writing to confirm the trial strategy that trial

counsel outlined in his testimony. 134:36.

On cross-examination, the following question and answer

took place:

Q: Well, I guess Mr. Givens, in terms of the strategy, based on trying to get a lesser included offense, did you make it clear to Mr. Grant that

part of the execution of that strategy would be to place him at the scene of the crime?

A: Did I specifically make that - - I don't - - I believe that that was implied in any conversations that we had. But did I say, oh, Mr. Grant, we're going to have to say that you were there - -

Q: Right - -

A: You need to understand that he had already placed himself there in previous conversations with me. That the fact that you can sit in the car, and the fact, that - well, first of all, that you identified the car as yours; it's coming from the park. The fact that you can tell me about the seating arrangements, where people were seated, what they could and couldn't see, and other conversations we had along those lines, clearly indicated that he was in the car, he was at the scene. So I didn't sit down and go, well, we'll have to place you at the scene, because it was understood he was there. 134:45-46.

Circuit court's determination of motion.

The circuit court's analysis and determination of Grant's

motion appear in the appendix at A.105-108.

The circuit summarized the evidence pertaining to Grant's

motion as follows:

In the instant case, Grant, via affidavit, contends that he had communicated to trial counsel that he was not present at the scene of the alleged crimes. Trial counsel, in his testimony, conceded that there was some discussion of that by Grant. But after reviewing the evidence with him, it appeared to trial counsel that Grant pinned his hopes for an acquittal on the witnesses on appearing to testify, and if they did, there would have been other problems that would make them unreliable in the eyes of the jury. During his testimony, trial counsel further explained that while he was discussing strategy with Grant, he mentioned the "accident/lack of intent" defense. While conceding that he did not recall Grant's explicit endorsement of that strategy, he testified that Grant never explicitly rejected the strategy until after closing arguments had been made. Ap.107.

The circuit court made the following findings:

It is apparent that this Court must decide whose version of events to believe. Clearly, Grant objected on the record to the tactics of trial counsel after the case had been argued and sent to the jury for deliberations (but before verdicts were announced). No other on-therecord protestation by Grant is cited. Less clear is whether the objection to this strategy was apparent to trial counsel prior to the conclusion of the trial. On this issue, this Court finds trial counsel's version more credible. In reaching this finding, the Court notes trial counsel's thirty-four years of experience and the Court's own dealings with trial counsel in many other cases. With that level of experience, trial counsel would have filed a Notice of Alibi based on Grant's assertion of not being at the scene at all, pursuant to Sec. 971.23(8), Wis. Stats. No such notice appears in the record. Ap.107.

The circuit court determined that the facts of the case more similarly resembled the facts in *Florida v. Nixon*, 543 U.S. 175 (2004) rather than *McCoy v. Louisiana*, supra, and denied Grant's motion. Ap.107.

Argument

Grant is entitled to a new trial under *McCoy v. Louisiana* and the 6th Amendment to the United States Constitution because he was denied his right to choose the objective of his defense and the assistance of counsel in pursuing such objective.

A. Standard of review.

Historical facts, as found by the trial court, will not be reversed unless clearly erroneous. See *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353,382, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987). The application of constitutional principles to those facts is matter for a reviewing court's independent determination. See *id*.

B. Principles of McCoy v. Louisiana.

In *McCoy v. Louisiana*, the Supreme Court recently affirmed a criminal defendant's right to assert his innocence at trial and have counsel's assistance in doing so, even if trial counsel disagrees with such objective:

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