FILED 10-01-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2020AP785-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEYON D. GRANT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Rather, the burden is on the client to "expressly assert[]" his desire to pursue an innocence defense, and he forfeits

Case 2020AP000785 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-01-2020 Page 16 of 26

that right by acquiescing to counsel's strategy. *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1508–09 (discussing *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181). Implicit in the requirement that the defendant "expressly assert" the right is that he do so in a timely manner. Thus, the defendant in *Nixon* who failed to express to counsel his wish to assert an innocence defense when counsel was formulating the defense strategy could not later assert a violation of his autonomy right. *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181.

Finally, a claim that counsel ignored her client's express wish to assert innocence implicates "[the] client's autonomy, not counsel's competence." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1510–11. Thus, the familiar ineffective assistance standard of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), does not apply to the questions of whether the defendant expressly asserted the desire to maintain innocence, and whether counsel respected that choice. *Id.* A defendant proceeding under *McCoy* also need not prove prejudice. *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511. Because denial of the defendant's right to determine the objective of the defense is structural error, it is not subject to review for harmless error. *Id.*

C. The postconviction court's dispositive finding that Grant did not expressly assert to counsel a desire to maintain innocence is not clearly erroneous.

The State had a strong case against Grant, up to a point. Video and testimonial evidence put Grant at the crime scene, and direct and circumstantial evidence identified him as D.P.'s shooter. (R. 126:43, 50; 127:63–64; 128:27–28, 60; 137:40–42, 68–70.) But the State lacked a motive, and no one (other than D.P., and only as he was turning from Grant) witnessed the moment Grant fired the shot that injured D.P.

On these facts, counsel settled on what was likely the only reasonable defense available: That the shooting was an accident. (R. 129:88–95; 137:32–33.) Grant's conduct was

"dumb" and "reckless," counsel conceded (R. 129:91–92, 95), but the State failed to show that he intended to kill D.P. (R. 129:88–95; 137:32–33.) By this strategy, counsel sought to reduce Grant's criminal exposure from 60 years of for first-degree imprisonment attempted intentional homicide, a Class B Felony, see Wis. Stat. §§ 939.32(1)(a), 939.50(3)(b); to either 12 years and 6 months of imprisonment for first-degree recklessly endangering safety, a Class F felony, Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(f) and 941.30(1); or 10 years of imprisonment for second-degree recklessly endangering safety, a Class G felony, Wis. Stat. §§ 939.50(3)(g) and 941.30(2).

The strategy appears to have succeeded. The jury found Grant guilty of first-degree recklessly endangering safety, and the court sentenced Grant to seven years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision on this offense. (R. 88:1, A-App. 103.)

But no matter the wisdom or success of counsel's strategy, if Grant expressly asserted to counsel in a timely manner that he wished to maintain his innocence, then he would be entitled to a new trial. *See McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1508–11.

The postconviction court addressed this question of fact and found that Grant did not expressly assert to counsel a desire to pursue a defense of innocence.

The court explained: "Clearly, Grant objected on the record to the tactics of trial counsel after the case had been argued and sent to the jury for deliberations." (R. 109:3, A-App. 107.) "Less clear is whether the objection to this strategy was apparent to trial counsel⁴ prior to the conclusion of the

⁴ Counsel's subjective view—what "was apparent" to him—wasn't the correct perspective for this analysis. The issue is

trial. On this issue, this Court finds trial counsel's version more credible." (R. 109:3, A-App. 107.) "In reaching this finding, this Court notes trial counsel's thirty-four years of experience and the Court's own dealings with trial counsel in many other cases." (R. 109:3, A-App. 107.)

On appeal, Grant maintains that this dispositive finding of fact is clearly erroneous. (Grant's Br. 22–30.) Grant is mistaken.

Under the "clearly erroneous" standard of review, an appellate court is "bound not to upset the trial court's findings of historical or evidentiary fact unless they are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 343, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987).

Here, the court's finding that Grant did not expressly assert a desire to assert innocence is not clearly erroneous because it is well supported by defense counsel's hearing testimony. Specifically, counsel testified that, "[a]t no point prior to" Grant's surprise statement to counsel at the close of evidence "did he ever say, I wasn't there." (R. 134:29.)

In fact, counsel explained, "[w]e'[d] had conversations where he . . . clearly admitted being there and knowing what was going on." (R. 134:28.) Counsel testified that, once counsel and Grant started to have more serious conversations about his defense, Grant admitted he was at the park when the

whether Grant communicated or made apparent to counsel his opposition to counsel's "tactics" (i.e., his proposed defense of conceding guilt to a lesser offense) and "expressly asserted" the desire to assert innocence. McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1509. But, of course, the court did not find that Grant actually communicated his objections but that, for whatever reason, these objections were just "not apparent" to counsel. Thus, despite language mistakenly focusing on counsel's subjective awareness, the postconviction court resolved against Grant the dispositive factual issue of whether Grant "expressly asserted" an objection to counsel's

proposed defense and the desire to maintain innocence.

Case 2020AP000785 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-01-2020 Page 19 of 26

crime occurred. (R. 134:14–16.) Counsel played for Grant surveillance video showing Grant's car entering and leaving the park around the time of the shooting, and Grant admitted, "yeah, that's my car." (R. 134:15–16.) Additionally, as counsel explained, Grant placed himself in the car on the ride from the gas station to the park by talking about whether, from the backseat, McCall and D.G. could have seen a shotgun on his lap, as one of them had told to police. (R. 134:17.)

Counsel's surprise and disbelief at Grant's statement to him at the close of evidence that he "wasn't there" further supports the court's finding that Grant had not asserted an innocence defense to counsel before the end of the trial. (R. 134:28.) Counsel said he was initially concerned that Grant was having a break with reality ("some type of mental breakdown") "because this is kind of ridiculous that, at this point now, he said he wasn't there." (R. 134:28.) But counsel took in the "smirk on [Grant's] face," the "smile that's sort of laughing," and determined that Grant was "just being silly" or "just clowning around." (R. 134:27, 28.)

Grant appears to argue that, going back to his initial conversations with counsel, he took a position that represented an express assertion of the desire to assert his innocence. (Grant's Br. 23–25.) This position, as counsel testified, was that the witnesses would not testify against him, and, if they did, the jury would not find them to be credible. (R. 134:13.)

But this is not an express assertion of innocence so much as a prediction or an opinion about what other people will do. It states no admission or denial (express or otherwise) on whether Grant was there and committed the crime. It merely expresses the view that the State will not be able to make its case, whether or not Grant was there and did it, because the witnesses won't show up and they won't be credible if they do. At most, this position suggests an opinion that it will not be necessary to concede anything because the

Case 2020AP000785 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-01-2020 Page 20 of 26

State's evidence will be weak. But it is not an assertion of innocence.

Grant concedes that, in the week before trial, counsel discussed with him counsel's proposed strategy of conceding guilt as to a lesser included offense of recklessly endangering safety. (Grant's Br. 23–24.) But Grant argues, based on counsel's own testimony, Grant "did not endorse such strategy, and instead maintained his previous position." (Grant's Br. 23–24.) Grant notes that counsel testified that Grant "didn't necessarily participate much in the discussions," and so counsel "was pretty much developing my own strategy, because he wasn't giving me a lot of input, and I don't think he was doing much listening." (R. 134:23–24.)

But Grant's "previous position" was not an express assertion of innocence; it merely represented a view about the strength of the evidence against him. And counsel, in carrying out his responsibility to develop the best defense for his client, was not required to obtain Grant's "endorse[ment]" (Grant's Br. 24) for this defense. See McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1509. Rather, McCoy allows counsel to develop a defense "unilaterally" when the defendant is not "participat[ing] much" in discussions about strategy. (Grant's Br. 25; R. 134:23–24.) So, even assuming that Grant maintained his "previous position" during the critical time when counsel was formulating Grant's defense (counsel actually says Grant "didn't . . . participate that much in the discussions"), that position was not an assertion of innocence in the face of counsel's proposed strategy. (R. 134:23–24.)

⁵ Grant also argues that counsel's opening statement indicates that counsel "initially honored Grant's objective," noting that counsel attacked D.P.'s credibility and, specifically, challenged D.P.'s (inaccurate) physical description of Grant. (Grant's Br. 25.) The State is unclear about how this point advances Grant's

Finally, Grant argues that Grant's statement to counsel at the close of evidence that he "wasn't there" shows that the postconviction court clearly erred in finding that Grant did not expressly assert a desire to make an innocence defense "prior to the conclusion of the trial." (Grant's Br. 26.)

As to the statement's timing, the State does not dispute that this statement was made to counsel "prior to the conclusion of the trial." But, as argued below, the court's finding was not clearly erroneous because this statement was not an express assertion of the desire to make an innocence defense. And, as argued in the next section, even if it was such an assertion, it was not timely under *Nixon* and *McCoy*.

The postconviction court did not separately address this statement in its decision. But counsel's account of this exchange with Grant supports the court's implicit finding that this statement also did not constitute an express assertion of the desire to pursue an innocence defense. *See Martwick*, 231 Wis. 2d 801, ¶ 31 (when circuit court fails to make express findings, we may assume that the court made implicit findings that support its decision).

As he explained, counsel was taken aback by Grant's sudden assertion that he wasn't there. By counsel's telling, Grant had long acknowledged to counsel that he was present on the scene. (R. 134:28.) Now—after all the evidence was in and it overwhelmingly put Grant at the scene—Grant said, with a smirk or "laughing smile" on his face, that he wasn't there. (R. 134:28.) "At no point prior to that did he ever say, I wasn't there," counsel said. (R. 134:29.) "We'[d] had conversations where he . . . clearly admitted being there and knowing what was going on." (R. 134:28.) Moreover, while Grant asserted that he wasn't there, his words fell short of

argument. Regardless, counsel also plainly argued in his opening that the evidence at trial would show that the shooting was not intentional. (R. 137:25–26.)

being "express statements of [his] will to maintain innocence," McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1509. At no point did Grant expressly assert that he wanted counsel to change his defense—a defense to which he did not object in preparing for trial—on the spot minutes before closing argument.

Page 22 of 26

Based on the foregoing, including Grant's demeanor and facial expressions, counsel testified that he concluded in the moment that Grant was not serious but was just "being silly" and "clowning around." (R. 134:28.) This conclusion was reasonable under the circumstances, no matter the more serious tone Grant struck for the court after the jury left to deliberate. (R. 129:117–18.) The record therefore supports the court's implicit determination that Grant's statement to counsel after the close of evidence was likewise not an express assertion of the desire to pursue an innocence defense.

Based on the foregoing, the postconviction court's finding that Grant did not expressly assert to counsel a desire to pursue an innocence defense was not contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *See Turner*, 136 Wis. 2d at 343.

D. On the facts found by the postconviction court, Grant's right to maintain a defense of innocence was not violated; this is a *Nixon* case, as the court correctly determined.

Grant had the right to choose a defense of innocence. See McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1507–08. But to exercise this right, Grant had to expressly and timely assert that choice to counsel. McCoy, 138 S. Ct. at 1509 (discussing Nixon, 543 U.S. at 181). Because the facts, as found by the postconviction

⁶ Counsel testified that he thought that Grant's "bl[o]w up" after the jury left to deliberate "was always, you know, something he was doing to try[] to impress the judge" (R. 134:30.)

19

Case 2020AP000785 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-01-2020 Page 23 of 26

court, show that Grant did no such thing, his *McCoy* claim fails.

Rather, as the postconviction court determined, this is a *Nixon* case. In *Nixon*, a capital case, counsel formulated and discussed with Nixon a strategy of conceding guilt on the murder charge as a part of bid for clemency to avoid the death penalty. 543 U.S. at 181. Nixon's attorney tried to explain this strategy to Nixon, but he "was generally unresponsive" during these discussions and "never verbally approved or protested" counsel's proposed approach. *Id*.

Postconviction, Nixon asserted that counsel rendered ineffective assistance by conceding his guilt without obtaining his express consent. *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 185. Eventually, the Florida Supreme Court agreed and ordered a new trial. *Id.* at 186. The U.S. Supreme Court granted certiorari and reversed, rejecting a blanket rule that a concession to murder in the guilt phase of a capital prosecution requires the defendant's express consent. *Id.* at 188–92.

In distinguishing *Nixon*, the *McCoy* court explained: "Nixon's attorney did not negate Nixon's autonomy by overriding Nixon's desired defense objective, for Nixon never asserted any such objective." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1509 (discussing *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181). In essence, Nixon forfeited the right to choose a defense of innocence by not expressly and timely asserting his desire to maintain such a defense. *Id*.

This also describes Grant's situation. In the week before trial, counsel discussed with Grant a strategy of conceding guilt to a lesser offense of recklessly endangering safety. (R. 134:24.) Counsel testified that Grant did not oppose this strategy or insist that he wasn't there. (R. 134:24, 26.) "[H]e never said, no, no, no, no, I don't want to go that way." (R. 134:24.) Instead, Grant "didn't necessarily participate that much in the discussions" about defense strategy, saying only

"I want to hear what they're going to say." (R. 134:23.) Neither this, nor anything else Grant said before or during trial, constituted an express assertion of the will to maintain an innocence defense.

Only after the close of evidence did Grant suddenly say anything about not being at the scene. However, as argued, the circuit court's implicit finding that this statement was not an assertion of the right to maintain an innocence defense was not clearly erroneous. Moreover, even if the statement constituted such an assertion, it was untimely. The time for Grant to object to counsel's proposed strategy was when counsel was formulating it—not after counsel had completed his opening statement, cross-examined witnesses, and was about to make his closing argument. Like Nixon, Grant forfeited the right to maintain an innocence defense by not asserting it before trial. *See McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. 1509 (discussing *Nixon*, 543 U.S. at 181).

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